The Actuarial Profession

making financial sense of the future

DISCUSS DISCUSS

DISCUSS
DISCUSS
DISCUSS
DISCUSS
DISCUSS
DISCUSS
DISCUSS
DISCUSS
DISCUSS
DISCUSS

Is there a place in the UK Defined Contribution pensions market for a guaranteed savings product?

DISCUSS DISCUSS DISCUSS By the Investment Products for Retirement Savings DISCUSS DISCUSS Working Party: **DISCUSS DISCUSS** Scott Eason (Chair), Paul Barker, Gillian Foroughi, John Harsant, DISCUSS DISCUSS DISCUSS David Hunter, Stuart Jarvis, Gareth Jones, Viktor Knava, Peter Murphy, **DISCUSS DISCUSS** Karl Murray, Jeev Muthulingam, Nnamdi Odozi, Tessa Page, DISCUSS DISCUSS Kingsley Washoma, Anthony Webb DISCUSS **DISCUSS DISCUSS** DISCUSS DISCUSS **DISCUSS DISCUSS** DISCUSS DISCUSS DISCUSS **DISCUSS DISCUSS** DISCUSS DISCUSS DISCUSS DISCUSS DISCUSS DISCUSS

"Is there a place in the UK Defined Contribution pensions market for a guaranteed savings product?"

Report of the Investment Products for Retirement Savings Working Party

Presented to the Actuarial Profession, London on 28 May 2012 and updated for presentation on 23 October 2012

Authors:

Scott Eason (Chair),

Paul Barker

Gillian Foroughi

John Harsant

David Hunter

Stuart Jarvis

Gareth Jones

Viktor Knava

Peter Murphy

Karl Murray

Jeev Muthulingam

Nnamdi Odozi

Tessa Page

Kingsley Washoma

Anthony Webb

Correspondence to: Scott Eason, Societe Generale, 41 Tower Hill, London EC3N 4SG, Tel: +44 (0)20 7676 7393, E-mail: scott.eason@sgcib.com

Contents

1.	Introduction	4
2.	UK Pension system	6
3.	Pension systems from around the world	10
4.	Wants and needs	14
5.	Methods of managing investment risk and providing guarantees	22
6.	Quantitative analysis of investment approaches	29
7.	Practical issues	34
8.	Conclusions	39
9.	Acknowledgements	40
10.	References	41

Abstract

The UK has seen a significant transition from Defined Benefit ("DB") to Defined Contribution ("DC") for occupational pension saving. The planned automatic enrolment program starting in 2012 is expected to increase the use of DC. The main features of DC are that investment risk falls onto the individual during the pre-retirement phase and that there are no guarantees as to investment returns or the level of pension. In July 2012, Steve Webb, the Pensions Minister, challenged industry to think hard about meeting the need for more certainty about pension savings in DC plans and to consider providing an affordable 'Money Safe' guarantee where the member would get back at least the nominal value of their contributions (individual, employer and tax relief). This paper explores whether this is viable for the mass market.

Keywords

Defined Contribution ("DC"); Occupational Pension Schemes; Automatic enrolment; Investment risk; Guarantee; Wants and needs; Value for money; Lifestyling; Volatility targeting; Expected return; Guarantee charges; Portability; Consolidation; Communication

1. Introduction

Background

- 1.1 The UK has seen a significant transition from Defined Benefit ("DB") to Defined Contribution ("DC") for occupational pension saving. The planned automatic enrolment program starting in 2012 is expected to increase the use of DC.
- 1.2 The main features of DC are that investment risk falls onto the individual during the pre-retirement phase and there are no guarantees as to the investment return or the level of pension. This can lead to individuals being left with insufficient income during retirement and difficulties for individuals in planning their retirement.
- 1.3 Our working party was formed to investigate whether there is a place in the UK DC market for a guaranteed savings product. Our focus is on the mass market (which we define as those between the 20th and 80th percentile by income). The mass market is expected, in the short to medium term at least, to effectively remain subject to compulsory annuitisation (as the majority will not meet the criteria required for income drawdown). Under annuitisation, investment risk after retirement is passed to an insurer. Therefore, we have only considered the pre-retirement phase in this paper.
- 1.4 The working party was formed under the sponsorship of the Finance and Investment Practice Executive Committee of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
- 1.5 In July 2012, Steve Webb, the Pensions Minister, highlighted the relevance of this topic by challenging industry to think hard about meeting the need for more certainty about pension savings in DC plans and to consider providing an affordable 'Money Safe' guarantee where the member would get back at least the nominal value of their contributions (individual, employer and tax relief) at retirement.

Contents and scope of paper

- 1.6 This paper starts off in Sections 2 and 3 by looking at the pension systems in the UK and from various countries around the world, in particular the existence and use of investment guarantees and any lessons that can be learnt from existing regimes.
- 1.7 We then identify, in Section 4, the typical wants and needs of the mass market in respect of their pension provision. We also look at the wants and needs of traditional pension providers, ie employers and insurers, as well as regulators. We assess whether guarantees can help meet these needs and wants.

- 1.8 Guaranteed savings products are not a new idea. In addition, a number of methods for managing investment risk and providing investment guarantees have been developed over the years. In Section 5, we describe some of the most common products and techniques. In Section 6, we compare the relative economic features of these approaches to assess the need for guaranteed savings products and the potential scope for offering money-back guarantees.
- 1.9 In Section 7, we look at some of the practical issues surrounding providing guaranteed products for DC pensions in the mass market.
- 1.10 Finally, in Section 8, we summarise our findings.

2. UK Pension System

- 2.1 In this section, we look at the UK pension system to identify the extent of existence of pension guarantees.
- 2.2 Most developed countries rely on three pillars of pension provision to ensure that pensioners receive an appropriate level of retirement income:
 - (i) Pillar 1 state provision
 - (ii) Pillar 2 employer / employee provision
 - (iii) Pillar 3 individual provision
- 2.3 The current UK system is to provide a flat basic state pension plus an earnings-related state pension as Pillar 1. Pillar 3 is encouraged through tax incentives. However, Pillar 2 is the key element of pension provision for a large proportion of our target population. OECD (2011, P123) reports that private pensions provide more income in retirement than state pensions for the median earner in the United Kingdom.

Pillar 2 background

- 2.4 Historically, most Pillar 2 provision in the UK was provided in the form of DB schemes.
- 2.5 DB schemes generally provide a lifetime pension in retirement based on the salary level and employment service of an employee. Benefits can be defined in terms of final salary or career average, although final salary has typically been most common. Longevity and investment risk falls on the employer whilst they are solvent.
- 2.6 The cost of providing DB schemes has in many cases become disproportionate to the profits of the sponsoring employer and many companies have considered them too expensive or too risky.
- 2.7 In the past 10 years, the UK has seen a significant transition from DB to DC for Pillar 2. Towers Watson (2012a) report that the percentage of DC assets has increased from 8% to 39% between 2001 and 2011.
- 2.8 DC plans have a fixed contribution rate as a percentage of salary, often by both employer and employee. The contributions are invested into funds at the choice of the employee (usually within a focussed fund range chosen by the trustees of the scheme, or a very long list of funds for contract based schemes). A default fund is typically offered for members who do not make a choice.
- 2.9 The main features of DC plans are that investment risk falls onto the individual during the pre-retirement phase and neither the employer nor the scheme provider (in the case where a provider such as an insurance company has been appointed by the employer) provides a guarantee as to the level of investment return or pension. This provides welcome certainty over cost to

- the employer but passes risk onto the employee. The employee could suffer from low investment returns and/or high annuity rates.
- 2.10 Current tax rules allow pension contributions to be made out of gross salary and until recently, annuitisation was compulsory. Under annuitisation, investment and longevity risk passes to the insurance company after purchase of the annuity.
- 2.11 The Finance Act 2011 has removed the need for this compulsory annuitisation. However, this requires individuals to meet a minimum pension income requirement of £20,000pa to qualify and this is unlikely to be applicable to the mass market. Therefore, in this paper, we focus only on investment risks in the pre-retirement phase.
- 2.12 Annuitisation is only compulsory at age 75, regardless of when an individual actually retired. The "at retirement" savings market is developing rapidly and, increasingly, individuals are not immediately annuitising at retirement.
- 2.13 It should also be noted that under current tax rules, 25% of the accrued pension pot may be taken as a tax-free cash lump sum rather than be annuitised and that this is a very common occurrence.

Automatic enrolment and NEST

- 2.14 Over a five year period from October 2012, employers will be required to start automatically enrolling workers into a qualifying workplace pension scheme. The start date for an individual employer depends on its PAYE population size.
- 2.15 Employers will be required to automatically enrol workers who
 - (a) Are not already in a qualifying workplace pension scheme;
 - (b) Are aged between 22 and State Pension Age;
 - (c) Earn more than £8,105 per annum; and
 - (d) Ordinarily work in the UK (under their contract)
- 2.16 A qualifying scheme can be a DB or hybrid scheme but it is expected that the vast majority of qualifying schemes will be DC schemes.
- 2.17 From October 2018, a minimum of 8% of earnings must be paid in contributions, with a minimum of 3% to be contributed by the employer.
- 2.18 Individuals have the right to opt out of the scheme so the scheme is not fully compulsory.
- 2.19 As part of the forthcoming Pension reform, the UK government has established the National Employment Savings Trust ("NEST"). This is a not-for-profit pension scheme which is pitched primarily at employers who are seeking a suitable DC scheme to meet some or all of their automatic

- enrolment obligations. There is no requirement to use NEST and indeed NEST now has a number of low-cost competitors.
- 2.20 NEST (2012) announced that it will run target date funds (one fund for each future retirement year) with the following features:
 - 3 investment phases (foundation, growth and consolidation)
 - NEST determines fund allocations
 - Dynamic asset allocations, reflecting market conditions and risk limits
 - Use of passive investment funds
 - Statement of intention for low charges (expected to be 0.3% per annum plus a 1.8% contribution charge).
- 2.21 The foundation phase is a new concept for DC plans. The idea is that in the first 5 years, investment risk should be low to avoid shocks to encourage saving.
- 2.22 The growth phase is risk-controlled and is expected to adopt a diversified multi-asset fund approach, as opposed to the higher equity exposure in a typical existing lifestyling fund.
- 2.23 The consolidation phase is expected to start 10 years before retirement and transitions the fund from return-seeking assets towards cash and annuity tracking assets. This is very similar to the approach used under current lifestyling funds.
- 2.24 We consider the NEST approach further in section 5.

Hybrid "Middle-way" schemes

- 2.25 In response to recognition that the transition from DB to DC passes risk onto employees, a small number of middle-way options which share investment and longevity risks between the employer and member have been designed in the UK. These include:
 - Cash balance plans where DC-like contributions are credited with a fixed rate of return until retirement. These are usually set up on a pooled, notional basis. Employers benefit or suffer from investment surpluses or deficits and so individuals do not have a say in the investment strategy
 - DC with underpins where the employer guarantees minimum pension benefits based on a salary based formula but pays a DC fund if at retirement, the annuity that could be bought by the DC fund turns out to be higher. These are usually set up on an individual account basis with the individual controlling their investment strategy. This creates larger risk on the employer than a traditional DB scheme as the employer has no control over the level of investment risk being taken.
- 2.26 These schemes are currently classified as DB yet also fall under the UK statutory regulations for DC schemes. They generally offer an improvement for members relative to pure DC but come with the challenges of

- communicating them effectively and dealing with the administrative and legal burdens of falling within both the DC and DB regulatory regimes.
- 2.27 The Association of Consulting Actuaries (2009) has carried out research that suggests that whilst many companies are supportive of middle way schemes, they believe that legislation does not easily allow for sharing risks and unless there was a step change in regulation, most companies would be unlikely to implement such schemes.

Conclusions

- 2.28 The key pillar of pension provision for the majority of employed UK individuals is Pillar 2 employer and employee provision. The introduction of automatic enrolment will increase this reliance on Pillar 2.
- 2.29 The move from DB to DC has led to a removal in Pillar 2 pension guarantees for a large proportion of the population, who now have no pension guarantees, except for those provided in state benefits.
- 2.30 A small number of employers have attempted to re-introduce guarantees through "middle-way" schemes. However, these generally involve a lot of challenges for employers and so are unlikely to become common.

3. Pension Systems from around the world

Introduction

- 3.1 We have seen that investment guarantees are becoming increasingly rare in UK pension savings.
- 3.2 In this section, we look at the key features of a number of different systems from other countries to identify whether guarantees are common elsewhere and the impact any such guarantees have on pension saving.

Netherlands

- 3.3 The second pillar in the Netherlands is still heavily dominated by DB schemes as both employers and (union-backed) employees must agree to any changes to plans. Van der Lecq and Van der Wurff, (2011, p1) report that only 5% of employees were in DC plans at the end of 2008.
- 3.4 However, there has been a material shift from final salary schemes to career average schemes for DB schemes. Van der Lecq and Van der Wurff (2011,p1) report that approximately 90% of employees had a career-average scheme at the end of 2008.
- 3.5 These schemes are quasi-mandatory and it is reported (www.pensionfundsonline.co.uk) that 80% of occupational plan members being covered by mandatory sector-wide plans.
- 3.6 An alternative approach, Collective DC ("CDC") schemes, has also been trialled. They allow greater cost certainty to employers than DB schemes, but retain some pooling and risk sharing for employees unlike traditional DC schemes.
- 3.7 In simple terms, as with DB schemes, members accrue nominal pension rights annually, with indexation of these benefits dependent on fund performance. However both these nominal pensions and indexation increases can be changed if fund performance is poor.
- 3.8 CDC in itself does not provide any absolute guarantees, nor provide greater certainty than plain DC, although it does build up expectations. It could be possible for the investment strategy of the fund to provide guarantees but this would increase complexity, and raise questions about who was ultimately responsible for meeting those should the fund suffer.

Germany

3.9 German Pillar 2 pension plans provide an absolute guarantee. The Riester reform from 2001 requires a minimum rate of return of 0% on accumulated

- savings at retirement. As these are the responsibility of the employer, they are classified as DB schemes.
- 3.10 It is worth noting that the guarantee is cancelled on transfer of employer before retirement.
- 3.11 Riester pensions are also sold directly by pension providers (eg insurers) under Pillar 3. These must guarantee, at retirement, an accumulation of contributions compounded at a fixed positive interest rate (reduced from 2.25% per annum to 1.75% per annum in 2012). In most cases, the provider credits the guaranteed rate only.

Denmark

- 3.12 Denmark provides a tax-financed basic pension but also requires all employees to contribute to a low contribution first-pillar pension, provided by ATP, a public pension fund. ATP must provide a minimum guarantee of member's contributions, which is re-set regularly in line with long-term interest rates.
- 3.13 Second Pillar schemes are voluntary, although compulsory industry-wide funds are common. Aon Hewitt (2011,p12) reports that 80% of the workforce contributes to a second-pillar scheme and that over 90% of these schemes are DC.
- 3.14 The majority of the DC schemes are invested with insurance companies and include minimum return guarantees.
- 3.15 Regulations restrict equity investment in Pillar 2 schemes to 50% and, in practice, only 20% on average is invested in equities.

Switzerland

- 3.16 Switzerland runs a mandatory second pillar, where employers are required to provide pension schemes.
- 3.17 These pension schemes must meet a minimum return threshold, which is intended to be linked to the average market yield on seven-year Swiss government debt. This guarantee applies both at retirement and also on switching of provider.
- 3.18 In practice, this means that the minimum return is the level usually credited to member's accounts.

Australia

- 3.19 Australian pension provision is predominantly based on a mandatory second pillar requiring individuals to have funded pension accounts.
- 3.20 A wide range of providers, including industry funds, exist and 80% of the plans are DC (Towers Watson, 2012a). However, most funds use a trust

structure with trustees responsible for investment strategy. A high equity exposure is common for active members and guaranteed investment products are rare.

USA

- 3.21 A key element of Pillar 2 and 3 provision in the US is the use of 401(k) accounts. These were initially personal provisions encouraged by tax incentives. However, increasingly, employers are making contributions into individual's accounts. ICI (2012) reports that \$3,070bn was held in 401(k) DC plans at the end of 2011.
- 3.22 Employers are now allowed to automatically enrol their employees in 401(k) plans, requiring opt-out for those not wanting to participate. Such automatic plans stipulate a default fund and default contribution rate.
- 3.23 Under the Pension Protection Act of 2006, if the default fund meets certain requirements to be classified as "Qualified Default Investment Alternative", the liability for investment losses as a result of automatic enrolments passes from the employer to the employee.
- 3.24 In 2011, about 60% of American households nearing retirement age had 401(k) accounts. However, it has been reported (Browning, 2011) that these contained on average considerably less (c25%) than the amount needed to maintain the individual's standard of living in retirement.
- 3.25 70% of all schemes now offer target-date funds (ICI, 2012). However, as reported in Pollock (2012), the Securities and Exchange Commission recently sought comments on proposed new rules to apply to the marketing materials used by target date fund providers to improve understanding of how such funds work.
- 3.26 ICI (2012) reports that members in their sixties invested 16.5% of their 401(k) assets at the end of 2011 in Guaranteed Investment Contracts and other Stable Value funds, although these are mainly viewed as alternatives to cash. However, savers in their twenties saved just 4.4% of their account in such assets.

Japan

- 3.27 All DC plans must provide at least one capital guaranteed product (ie 0% return guarantee) amongst their investment alternatives. This guarantee level needs to be considered in the context of 0% bank interest rates in Japan.
- 3.28 Pillar 3 Variable Annuities with a guaranteed minimum accumulation benefit are also very popular in Japan.

Conclusions

3.29 It is clear that a wide range of systems are currently in place for Pillar 2.

- 3.30 A lot of the regimes we have investigated have a mandatory or quasimandatory Pillar 2 system although this is not universal.
- 3.31 A number of these regimes do include a return guarantee and often this is required by law to reduce the risk of pension burden falling back on the state.
- 3.32 Typically, those countries where a guaranteed return is required see that pension savings are invested more cautiously than in other countries, such as the UK and Australia.
- 3.33 It is also common that where a guarantee is offered, especially if this is based on long term bond yields, accounts are credited with that guarantee return and no upside return is sought.

4. Wants and needs?

- 4.1 There is no use in designing guaranteed pensions savings products if they are neither wanted nor needed. In this section we examine the wants and needs of different stakeholders, and highlight initial thoughts regarding how these wants and needs may be met by guaranteed products (although we also touch on other potential solutions).
- 4.2 The distinction between wants and needs is an important one. A lot of individuals have views on their wants but these may not always be practical or feasible, or indeed necessary, particularly in the long term. Needs are a lot less aspirational and are often more straightforward to identify and target.

Individuals

- 4.3 We accept that "individuals" is a broad category, encompassing, for example:
 - Different types of employment status (employee, self-employed, unemployed)
 - A range of levels of wealth
 - Scheme membership status (e.g. occupational trust-based, occupational contract-based, personal pension, no pension scheme, etc)
 - Age
 - Level of financial awareness and understanding.
- 4.4 However, in the following table we attempt to identify "typical" needs and wants of pension savers. Our focus here has been on non-high net worth individuals.

Want / need	Current position	Comments	Solutions?
Stable returns in	Individuals who see short to	Arguably, short term falls	The use of a guaranteed
the pre-retirement	medium term losses in the value	should not be a problem as	annual return product would
phase and in	of their "pot" (regardless of when	long as the long-term	solve this problem but may
particular in the	they plan to retire) may become	investment objectives are	lead to conservative
"growth" phase –	unsettled or disillusioned with	met.	investment strategies
no unexpected	saving and cease to contribute /		
sudden losses.	reduce contribution levels. This	Indeed, individuals who do	The existence of a maturity
	is supported by member research	not check their benefit	guarantee could give
	carried out by NEST (2012)	statements may be unaware	comfort to members during
		of market falls altogether.	volatile periods and protect
	Mercer (2012) reports that 79% of		against retiring at a "low"
	DC plans now have over 75% of	However, markets do not	point
	their members invested in default	necessarily "even out" and	
	funds, which typically rely	investment losses can impact	As previously discussed, it
	heavily on equities in the	attitudes to further saving.	is also interesting to note
	accumulation phase.		that NEST has taken an
	A		atypical approach to this
	A number of plans (typically trust-based plans) have turned to		issue by structuring the
	multi-asset diversified growth		default option to begin with a low risk, c5 year
	funds to provide a default option		"Foundation" investment
	expected to deliver less volatile		phase, using bonds and
	returns than equities.		cash, in order to encourage
	returns than equities.		members to continue saving.
	Mercer (2012) reports that 93% of		memoers to continue suving.
	plans have default funds that		
	include an element of lifestyling		
	(reducing exposure to risky assets		
	near retirement – see Section 5) to		
	reduce the risk of a material fall		
	just before retirement.		
Need an annual	DB schemes provided certainty of	The current low yield	Investing in bonds near
pension income	pension income levels	environment combined with	retirement that are a match
above a required		insurers' strengthened	for the pricing bases of
minimum.	DC does not provide certainty of	longevity assumptions has	insurers for annuities will
	achieving these goals	meant annuity conversion	lock in a level of annuity.
Want certainty of		rates that appear as extremely	However, rates are currently
levels near	DC members are exposed to the	poor value.	low and so this strategy
retirement and for	risk of their pots not being	II:-4:	locks in low annuity levels.
the level to be as	sufficiently large plus annuity rates being low at their retirement	Historically, insurers offered guaranteed annuity rates to	A moturity quarantae
high as possible	rates being low at their retirement	protect against falling yields	A maturity guarantee product will ensure a
		and rising longevity but these	minimum pot at retirement
		proved too expensive to	which should help in
		provide and are no longer	providing protection against
		offered.	income being too low
			Investing in risk-free assets
			will provide pot certainty
			but would remove the
			possibility of higher pots.

Want low fees that are transparent (the	Many occupational schemes have opted for index tracking funds as	The highest charges often occur when there are multiple	More "direct" solutions (rather than bundled	
need here is for a good value solution that, net of fees, gives the best return/risk profile)	the basis of their default solutions, and ETFs have found popularity in the retail world as increasingly investors pay attention to fees.	layers of fees - advisor, platform, fund manager, etc. Part of the issue is understanding of percentages	products) reduce the scope of multiple layers of fees having a detrimental impact on returns. Alternatively, bundled product providers	
Tourist promoty	Trust based schemes often benefit from "institutional" fee rates which are typically far lower than	for management charges which many find hard to equate to monetary fees, and may "miss" that charges are generally charged per annum.	should demonstrate that they are able to negotiate more competitive underlying fees so that the total remains competitive.	
	retail fees (e.g., for a passive equity fund, a trust based scheme may pay c. 0.1% p.a. in management charges whereas the retail fee could be up to 1.0% p.a.).	generally enanged per annum	The use of passive underlying funds should help to keep overall fees low.	
			Communication should be outcomes based rather than focusing on fee levels to highlight relative value, not just cost.	
Simplicity	Occupational schemes have embraced passively managed lifestyle strategies as a relatively "simple" approach. However, some more complex funds have found great popularity in the retail world.	Often when considering newer ideas (diversified growth funds, alternative asset classes, etc), trustees and employers baulk at having to explain such funds to scheme members.	Guaranteed products with a fairly simplistic structure arguably would be better understood than a unit linked equity fund where the returns are uncertain and unit prices are volatile.	
		Although guarantees were historically provided in DB schemes, the majority of individuals (in the mass market at least) did not understand how these		
		guarantees were provided, nor did they know or appreciate the true cost (indeed, arguably the cost is only now being fully appreciated by the providers		
		of DB schemes) With any "new" guarantee structure, this understanding gap would need to be addressed as the nature of the guarantee, and the cost thereof, is likely to		
		differ considerably from a DB-style guarantee. We comment further on the communication challenges in Chapter 7.		
Portability when change jobs / pension arrangement and	Individuals in occupational DC schemes who move jobs have the option to either leave their "old" investments in their previous	Increasingly people want their financial assets "in one place".	Multi-employer "super- schemes" (NEST being one of the first in the UK).	
the ability to pause contributions (e.g. on redundancy)	employers' scheme, transfer funds to a new personal arrangement at the individual's	Few individuals work for the same organisation for life any more.	In the context of guaranteed products, many of which require a fixed period for	

	discretion or their new employer may accept transfers in.		contributions, this issue would need to be addressed as part of product design.
Transparency in products	Many individuals have got used to having regular factsheets containing lots of fund information and increasingly investors use on-line services that offer a wealth of data.	Guaranteed and structured products are still dogged to an extent by the opaqueness associated with with-profits.	Guaranteed products would need to disclose a similar level of detail to unit linked funds – no more with- profits-esque disclosures.
Time horizon issues	Many find it hard to think about long time periods (especially when weighing up the possible outcomes of a guaranteed product).		Guaranteed products with fixed shorter term lives may appeal – e.g, a rolling 5 year plan.
Minimum involvement	The majority of individuals do not have the desire or ability to regularly assess their investment policy and make necessary changes. They would rather that sensible investment decisions are taken for them	Vast majority take up the default option in DC schemes	Dynamic asset strategies and products with guarantees may be beneficial in default funds and would reduce the governance time associated with actively managed funds in particular, where often stakeholders can get caught up in discussing short term performance.

Employers

Want / need	Current position	Comments	Solutions?
Value for money	Many employers recognise that	Employers often feel uneasy	Passive funds attract lower
	their DC schemes are less costly	about introducing new	fees than active funds
	than DB, but even so they want to	investment funds as a	
	ensure they get value for money.	replacement for existing	The bulk purchasing power
	In anticipation of automatic	options if they have higher	of pension schemes can
	enrolment, a number of providers	fees.	create very low
	have launched very low fee		management fees which
	schemes for employees to use for		could enable guarantees to
	their automatic enrolment		be provided within an
	population.		acceptable overall fee level
	Annual management charges are		Performance related fee
	in most cases paid by individuals		structures can have intuitive
	rather than the employer – so the		appeal.
	costs to the sponsor are those in		
	relation to administration and		
	scheme communications.		
Flexibility to	Employers who offer staff	Employers and trustees are	"White labelled" funds
change	contract based schemes cannot	often wary of changing	where the underlying
arrangements /	legally move individuals'	arrangements for fear of legal	components can be changed
funds without	investments between funds, and	action by members.	without having to inform
going through long member	the position in the trust world is		those invested.
communication	also fraught with potential legal issues.		Guaranteed products are
exercises	issues.		Guaranteed products are unlikely to address this
CACICISCS			issue and may face some
			obstacles in this area.
Low governance	Historically this has driven the		Solutions with in-built
(typically)	use of passive funds.		governance would work

			well (e.g., white-labelled funds overseen by a governance committee). Guaranteed products could meet this need as the outcome would be expected to have far less downside risk than a non-guaranteed fund.
Something that fits with automatic enrolment requirements	DWP (2011a) has issued guidance on the characteristics of a good default fund.	An employer's "automatic enrolment" membership population may be quite different to the population already in the employer's existing DC scheme (for example, the automatic enrolment membership for many schemes will be lower paid, less financially aware and potentially more risk averse).	A guarantee structure may better meet the needs of "new" members enrolled under automatic enrolment.
Don't want to deal with ex or current employees who have experienced poor returns or received low income levels.	This issue has also contributed to the rise in popularity of passive default funds, but often it is not understood that absolute returns could still be very disappointing – the focus to date has been on active manager risk.		Guaranteed products with a far more certain outcome than unit linked funds could address this fear.
Want / need good pension benefits to attract and retain employees	Employers see a much higher retention rate among their "old" DB population than their "new" DC population. With DC benefits largely equivalent across employers, current schemes offer limited incentives to join a particular employer to stay with an employer.	Middle to higher earners in particular look at the "whole package" when considering employers.	Schemes with guarantees may be seen as a more attractive option than traditional DC schemes (a "halfway" step between DB and DC if employers pay the guarantee charge) and hence may attract and retain staff.
Want employees to retire at expected age rather than continue to work to achieve a higher pension	Employment law stops employers from forcing employees to retire or leave on age grounds. If pension levels are not high enough, individuals will continue to work and workforces will age	In many industries, it is vital to attract new trainees and to maintain a younger workforce There is a risk that employers will be forced to top up DC pots to get employees to retire	A maturity guarantee product may help ensure that retirement pots are at a level that enables individuals to retire.

Providers

4.5 In this context, providers could include fund managers, insurers, banks, etc. We look at possible providers in more detail in section 7.

Want / need	Current position	Comments	Solutions?
Profitable products	The current "winners" in the industry are the three main passive managers running money at low fees but in huge bulk, and certain active managers with a good brand able to win business in higher margin funds. Bundled providers have also historically done well by channeling assets into their own funds and their own annuity products. A number of guaranteed products have proved to be unprofitable as rates have fallen, hedges have not reflected the actual assets or hedging costs have been high during volatile markets		Guarantees need to be hedgeable with a known cost. Selling white-label products passes the guarantee to third party
Products that can sit on platforms easily from an admin / legal perspective	Wide use of Life funds to meet legal requirements.		Products need to be packaged in the right wrapper in order to get onto the main distribution channels.
An edge over competitors	Increasingly providers need a USP – whether it be low price, innovation, or client service.		A specialised provider of guarantee products would offer something genuinely different from the market.
Products that are not a compliance risk	Many providers risk averse due to history of with-profits, etc.		Any guarantee product would need a strong package of communications around risk warnings with appropriate legal notices.

Regulators and industry bodies

Want / need	Current position	Comments	Solutions?
No more scandals	The Ombudsman's investigation into the regulation of Equitable Life (Parliamentary Ombudsman, 2003) resulted in blame on the regulators and a government compensation scheme. Regulatory bodies are likely to be understandably nervous about any "with profits part II" industry.		More optimistically, regulators do want good outcomes for individuals so may welcome innovation in product design.
Products that are relatively easy for them to monitor from a risk perspective	FSA has a stated aim of product intervention where they perceive a high risk of mis-selling as set out in FSA (2011). It is unclear how "products"		Incumbent on providers of products to produce simple, appropriate products and be transparent with regulators.

	themselves are monitored by regulators and to date the focus has been on the firms providing the products.		
Products that fit with The Pensions Regulator / IGG views on DC investments	The "view" from these bodies is reasonably broad (e.g., products should be "appropriately diversified" and "appropriate for the membership profile").	DWP (2011a) states that default options for automatic enrolment DC pension schemes in May 2011 must a) Have a simple, easy to explain, high-level objective; b) Take account of the likely characteristics and needs of employees who will be automatically enrolled; c) Be appropriately and competitively priced; and d) Have an investment strategy that should reflect the overall objective of the default option and the balance between risk and the potential for growth	There are no fundamental obstacles preventing guaranteed products from meeting the criteria set out by the IGG.
Need some "celebrity faces" to promote investment products for pensions saving	Martin Lewis has found great popularity on general finance issues, and Joanne Segars (NAPF) and Ros Altmann are familiar pensions faces.		A good, passionate communicator to appear on breakfast TV would help.
Want and need good outcomes for individuals with private pensions to reduce burden on state.	There is concern that the "new generation" of individuals approaching retirement with only DC benefits is a ticking time bomb – swathes of middle to higher earners used to a good standard of living will retire on much less than would have been the case for their parents' generation of DB members.		Guarantee products would potentially provide greater certainty for individuals to allow them to plan / target a certain level of income more easily, so may meet this requirement.

Conclusions

- 4.6 We conclude that fairly-priced guarantees should have a place in pension savings as they help meet a number of needs and wants of the various interested parties.
- 4.7 The information in the "individuals" table suggests that there is a clear "need" for well-priced, guaranteed products that provide individuals with a level of

- certainty and allows them to be passive investors but have confidence in their retirement outcome.
- 4.8 The ideal "needs" product would offer a guaranteed real level of income in retirement, akin to defined benefit or deferred annuity products. However, experience has shown that these are expensive to provide and this cost would have too much of an impact on returns if charged explicitly to member's accounts under a DC plan.
- 4.9 A "moneyback" guarantee would also appear to meet most needs and wants and would be a simpler, cheaper guarantee to provide.
- 4.10 However, to meet wants (and hopes), the expected return on a guaranteed product should be materially greater than that expected by investing in risk-free assets.

5. Methods of managing investment risk and providing guarantees

- 5.1 Guaranteed savings products are not a new idea. In this section, we first of all look at some of the most common products in the market.
- 5.2 A number of investment techniques have been developed to manage investment risk and to allow guarantees to be offered into savings products. We then introduce the most popular of these.
- 5.3 These strategies should be compared with the alternative of investing in risk-free assets such as cash (backed by government deposit guarantees) or government bonds. We do this quantitatively in section 6.

Product: With-profits

- 5.4 The traditional UK savings product with guarantees was the with-profits product offered by life insurance companies.
- 5.5 These were long-term contracts, usually with a fixed term. Virtually every UK life insurer sold significant amounts of these products in the 1980s and 1990s. Often these were sold as the repayment vehicle for mortgages ("mortgage endowments") with 25 year terms or as a pension savings vehicle.
- 5.6 The contracts contain a minimum guarantee regarding the payout. In addition, the guarantees can be added to during the life of the policy by the declaration of bonuses to reflect excess investment returns.
- 5.7 One of the main features of with-profits products is that they are generally run on a pooled investment approach. Some of the investment upside is held back to enhance investment returns in poor periods. This is intended to smooth out returns so individuals are not disadvantaged by investment timing issues.
- 5.8 The key feature of with-profits that allows an insurance company to offer investment guarantees is that the company has almost complete control over the individual policy. The company determines the investment strategy and the levels of payout, subject to the guarantee.
- 5.9 However, sales declined sharply after the collapse of Equitable Life at the beginning of the century and the recognition of the risks to companies of running these funds. A large number of funds were closed to new members, saw a significant reduction in investment risk (and hence returns) and bonuses were slashed, often to zero. Generally, the public lost trust in with-profits policies and disliked the lack of control of their policies.
- 5.10 The legacy books of with-profits funds are still huge, though. According to FSA (2010), at the end of 2009, there were around 25 million with-profits

- policies held by consumers representing £330bn of assets under management (this is down from £420bn at the end of 2005).
- 5.11 Companies are now required to publish a Principles and Practices of Financial Management ("PPFM") for each fund setting out their planned management actions, although in practice this has not been particularly successful in winning back public trust.
- 5.12 Some of the stronger insurance companies continue to write with-profits policies, although the typical investment is now a single premium, 5 year policy with a money-back guarantee.
- 5.13 Writing new with-profits business is capital intensive for insurance companies. As well as high initial commissions, the levels of capital required to back the guarantees are high. To partially address this, companies have often implemented some of the ideas discussed later in this section, such as lifestyling and CPPI, to reduce the expected cost of guarantees.
- 5.14 Newer products often have an explicit cost of guarantee charged to policyholders.
- 5.15 Some practitioners believe that the smoothing feature would be advantageous for DC and may remove the need for guarantees. However, we believe that a smoothing account approach would place a significant burden on the DC provider as it is difficult to run these at "zero-cost".

Product: Variable Annuities

- 5.16 With the decline of with-profits, UK insurers sold increased volumes of unit-linked policies as pension saving products. These provide complete control to policyholders who can choose from often hundreds of funds. However, policyholders are completely exposed to any falls in value of those funds.
- 5.17 Variable Annuities ("VA") are a wide class of products which can include longevity and withdrawal guarantees but for the purpose of this paper, we focus on the Guaranteed Minimum Accumulation Benefit ("GMAB") product.
- 5.18 This is effectively a unit-linked policy with investment guarantees applying at the maturity of the product. Policyholders choose the funds in which they are invested and an explicit fee is charged for the guarantee, depending on the fund(s) chosen.
- 5.19 The VA market initially took off in the US in the 1990s. Sales have been resilient to market turmoil and assets under management at end Q2 2011 stood at over \$1,500 bn, although the vast majority of this includes decumulation benefits. The GMAB product has been very successful in Japan.
- 5.20 In Europe, and the UK in particular, the market for GMAB has failed to take off. Hartford launched the first UK product in 2005 and were subsequently

- joined by a number of the major players from the US market. However, Towers Watson (2012b) reports that UK annual sales have remained stagnant at about £1bn per annum between 2008 and 2011 and the Hartford withdrew from the UK market in 2009.
- 5.21 VA policies have typically only been sold to High Net Worth individuals through IFAs and not been used as part of occupational pension scheme provision in the UK. Charges have therefore been at the higher individual business levels rather than the lower levels that can be achieved in occupational pensions business due to bulk purchasing. The high level of charges is generally stated as the main reason for the lack of market penetration.
- 5.22 Initially, consumers were offered an enormous choice of underlying funds and the ability to switch funds. This approach caused significant losses for a number of insurers as their hedging programs were based on vanilla indices. The volatility of actual funds was often greater than those of the hedges, causing losses to not be covered.
- 5.23 In addition, the complex hedging programs put in place used short term derivative instruments and required regular rolling of the hedges. As market volatility increased, these hedging costs increased significantly above the guarantee costs being charged, causing further losses.
- 5.24 Basis risk and hedge effectiveness are expected to be key determinants of capital requirements for VA products under Solvency II. Therefore, current products are based on considerably less funds.
- 5.25 In Japan, in many cases, the guarantee is now passed to an investment bank.
- 5.26 We believe that GMAB could be a mass-market product and that the bulk purchasing power of pension schemes could lead to an acceptable level of fees for the mass-market.

Product: Structured Notes

- 5.27 Structured notes come in a wide range of formats but are generally characterised by the use of derivatives to transform the risk/return profile of an underlying asset class or basket.
- 5.28 For example, a protected equity note may provide upside exposure to an equity index but provide a level of protection against downside falls. This protection is either paid for by an explicit fee, giving up some of the upside or giving up equity dividends compared to a normal equity holding.
- 5.29 These are very popular in the high net wealth individual retail market but their short term nature (often 5y or less) and complexity make them difficult to consider as a key element for the pensions mass market.
- 5.30 However, structured notes can often be considered as a return of premium plus a potential upside, dependent on underlying asset performance. This

concept could be used as the basis for the type of guarantee we are considering.

Technique: Lifestyling

- 5.31 Under DC, the choice of investment funds is the responsibility of the individual. However, as we discussed in Section 4, a large number of individuals are not able or interested in making such an investment decision.
- 5.32 DC schemes therefore will almost all have a default fund that any individuals not making a choice will have their contributions invested into. It is normal for this fund to use a lifestyling approach. By definition, the default fund should be an appropriate fund for a wide range of members of a scheme and, as such, there are often "active defaulters" who go into the default option by choice.
- 5.33 Lifestyling is the term given for investing initially in risky assets, such as equities, and then reducing the allocation to risky assets in an individual's portfolio as they reach retirement. The objective is to give the assets a chance to grow but have a chance to recover from any fall in asset values in the early years and to avoid the impact of such a fall just prior to retirement.
- 5.34 In its simplest form, lifestyling can move assets into cash and short term bonds to give more certainty over the level of retirement "pot". Historically, though, it has been more usual to move more into long-term bonds to give more certainty over the level of income achievable from an annuity.
- 5.35 However, long-term bond yields are currently very low and such a strategy risks locking in low annuity rates or seeing a fall in pot value if long-term bond yields rise.
- 5.36 Lifestyling is generally carried out by the asset managers to a scheme or fund at an individual member level. However, a group approach is gaining more popularity. Such "target date" funds invest to a certain target date and use a lifestyle approach to invest assets to become available on that date.
- 5.37 Both lifestyling and target date funds leave the investment risk with the saver, albeit that the investment strategy is defined in advance and, in theory, investment risk is reduced in the latter years. It is often perceived that this is a good default option as it makes what appear to be sensible decisions for those who are unlikely to get engaged in investment decisions.
- 5.38 However, asset switches are triggered as age limits are hit rather than particular returns achieved so the distribution of final potential returns can still be very wide. We investigate this further in section 6.
- 5.39 These approaches also expose an individual to last minute decisions to retire early or late, although presumably in a lot of cases, an individual can avoid retiring early if investment conditions are unfavourable and if the retirement deferment is not for too long, it may not be inappropriate to be fully invested in cash or bonds for the additional period.

Technique: CPPI

- 5.40 Constant Proportion Portfolio Insurance ("CPPI") is a similar concept to lifestyling in that it involves switching between risky and non-risky assets. However, the allocation is dynamic, ie it depends on market conditions rather than fixed changes, and it is typical for a savings product using CPPI to incorporate a maturity guarantee.
- 5.41 The percentage allocated to each asset class depends on the 'cushion value' (defined as current portfolio value minus guarantee value) and a multiplier co-efficient. The multiplier coefficient reflects the risk level of the strategy. It is typically derived by a view on the maximum potential loss on the risky assets in one day. The coefficient is the inverse of that percentage.
- 5.42 For example, if the view is that the maximum 'crash' loss is 20%, the multiplier will be 5. If the guarantee value is set at 90% of the initial value and the multiplier is 5, then the strategy would initially invest (100%-90%)*5 = 50% in the risky asset with the rest in the non-risky asset.
- 5.43 Typically, this calculation will be carried out daily and the fund re-balanced accordingly. This approach is guaranteed to hit a minimum of 90% at maturity as long as the daily performance is never lower than the maximum crash level, 20% in this example.
- 5.44 A company offering such a guarantee will lose money if such a crash happened. It is therefore typical for such a company to buy protection for this risk from an investment bank.
- 5.45 A common alternative approach is to provide an open-ended ratchet guarantee, where the guarantee represents a percentage (usually lower than that guaranteed just at maturity) of the highest daily fund value since investment and applies daily (ie the investor doesn't have to invest for a fixed period).
- 5.46 The major risk for investors is monetisation leading to poor returns. Monetisation is the term used to describe the scenario when the risky assets have fallen significantly in value and so the CPPI mechanism invests the fund virtually all in the non-risky assets to meet the minimum guarantee. The return on the non-risky assets is generally low but the fund still attracts high fee levels and so offers poor value compared to equivalently invested funds. Also, fund values have fallen but the fund has disinvested and so will miss out on any rebound in value of risky assets, hence locking in losses.
- 5.47 This happened to a lot of CPPI funds after the credit crunch. It was common for insurers to offer new series of these products to enable investors to remain invested in risky assets, albeit at lower guarantee levels.
- 5.48 The risk to the provider of issuing CPPI products is low (ignoring any operational risk) and is limited to the remote "crash" risk. With-profit funds have been known to apply such an approach to reduce guarantee costs.

5.49 In the individual retail space, CPPI was sold extensively in the early to mid part of the "noughties" as a replacement guaranteed product to with-profits. These are still sold now, but less so due to the recognition of the monetisation risk, and it is normal for the crash risk to be sold to an investment bank. They are not currently used in the UK pension scheme arena.

Technique: Volatility Targeting

- 5.50 Volatility Targeting is a similar approach to CPPI but aims to minimise monetisation risk.
- 5.51 The allocation between the risky and non-risky asset class is determined by reference to short-term realised volatility (often 1 month) and a volatility target. The underlying assumptions are that recent volatility is a good predictor of future short-term volatility and that volatile assets underperform and so you want to be underweight when assets are volatile.
- 5.52 For example, if the volatility target is 12% and recent volatility of the risky asset has been 20% and the recent volatility of the non-risky asset is 4%, then the allocation would be 50% in the risky asset and 50% in the non-risky asset. If the risky asset volatility increases to 24%, then the allocation to the risky asset falls to 40%.
- 5.53 If the assumption holds, the strength of this approach is that it should reduce your exposure to risky assets at the time when a crash is most likely but get you back into the risky assets when markets have calmed down again.
- 5.54 The other big advantage is that volatility targeting can be applied across many asset classes, not just two. Therefore, individuals can choose from a wide range of asset classes and funds that they would like to invest in and the manager applies the approach to those funds.
- 5.55 However, this approach does not naturally provide a guarantee to investors. The risk to investors is that the allocation process does not protect them against a market fall or misses a sharp market rise.
- 5.56 To mitigate the first risk, it is common for investment banks to offer a guarantee on volatility target funds. As the volatility of the fund is "controlled", the banks will offer this protection cheaper than on a normal balanced fund which can be passed on to customers in terms of lower guarantee funds.
- 5.57 To date, Volatility Target funds have not seen widespread take-up. One of the major concerns seems to be whether the concept is too complex and difficult to communicate (we consider this in section 7).
- 5.58 However, it can be argued that such an approach helps an advisor meet client suitability requirements as it enables them to discuss maximum expected fund value falls.

- 5.59 Such an approach may also be a sensible default option for a DC pension scheme where an individual may not be engaged enough to switch out of risky assets when markets are increasingly volatile.
- 5.60 We note that NEST intends to use volatility-controlled funds and so the use of expected volatility as a risk measure and input to asset allocation may become more common.

6. Quantitative analysis of investment approaches

Introduction

- 6.1 In section 5, we identified a number of different investment techniques that have been designed to reduce investment risk. We wanted to see how successful these approaches are expected to be in doing this. Clearly, if these approaches remove all downside investment risk at an appropriate cost in terms of return, there is no need for guaranteed products. To compare the relative values of various approaches, we have used a stochastic model to calculate the expected distributions of DC pot values at retirement.
- 6.2 We have focussed on expected return, the probability of beating risk-free returns and the probability of capital loss (defined as the final pot being less than the total amount of contributions). As discussed in section 4, we believe that the expected return of a strategy needs to be materially in excess of risk-free (probably at least 1/3rd of the assumed equity risk premium in this case 1% pa).
- 6.3 The approaches that we modelled were fixed asset allocation, lifestyling, CPPI and volatility targeting.
- 6.4 Guarantees could also theoretically be written around these strategies and we also look at how much excess return could be available to fund a guarantee whilst still meeting our performance targets.

Model used

- 6.5 We chose to model each of these strategies using just two asset classes equity and risk-free assets. The model used stochastic equity price movements, stochastic equity volatility and fixed deterministic risk-free rates
- 6.6 The key assumptions used were:
 - Risk-free returns = 3% pa
 - Equity risk premium = 3% pa
 - Equity volatility = 20% pa
 - Correlation between equity price movements and equity volatility = -75%
- 6.7 For the fixed asset allocation strategy, we assumed a fixed allocation of 50% in equities and 50% in risk-free.
- 6.8 For lifestyling, we assumed a fixed asset allocation until 10 years before retirement when the holding in equities was reduced linearly to zero at retirement. We examined three levels of initial equity allocation 100%, 75% and 50%. Risk-free assets have no market value volatility.

- 6.9 For CPPI, we assumed a multiplier of 5 and a maximum investment cap in equities of 100% (ie no leverage)
- 6.10 For calculating the equity exposure in the volatility targeting strategies, we assumed a volatility of risk-free assets of 4% pa. We examined a fixed 12% volatility target strategy and also a lifestyled volatility target approach. Under the latter, we assumed that the volatility target was 7% for 10 years (if the initial outstanding term was greater than 30 years), 12% until 8 years to go and then reducing linearly to 4% at retirement.
- 6.11 We assumed a fixed AMC of 20bps per annum for each strategy, including the risk-free investment comparison. We recognise that this might be challenging for some of the dynamic strategies but wanted to show a best case scenario for the "non-guaranteed" strategies to ensure we did not over-state any downside risk.

Regular Contribution Results

- 6.12 DC members can be invested for a long time and it is most typical for contributions to be regular in nature as they are often taken as a deduction of salary. For a new entrant into the workforce, their working lifetime could be in excess of 40 years. Therefore, we have firstly looked at some of the strategies without guarantees for members paying regular contributions for 40 years.
- 6.13 For a variety of reasons (new job, automatic enrolment, etc), members could also join schemes at older ages. We have therefore also looked at the same strategies for regular contributions paid for 10 years and 20 years. For simplicity, we have assumed level contributions (ie zero wage inflation).
- 6.14 The results of our modelling are shown below:

40 year regular contributions							
	100% lifestyling	75% lifestyling	50% lifestyling	50/50 fixed	CPPI	12% VT	Lifestyle VT
Average expected return	5.36%	4.67%	4.02%	4.38%	5.96%	4.62%	4.21%
Prob of capital loss	10%	5%	1%	2%	13%	3%	1%
Prob beating risk-free	66%	69%	73%	73%	59%	73%	72%
20 year regular contributions							
	100% lifestyling	75% lifestyling	50% lifestyling	50/50 fixed	CPPI	12% VT	Lifestyle VT
Average expected return	4.74%	4.24%	3.75%	4.31%	5.46%	4.64%	4.06%
Prob of capital loss	10%	5%	2%	8%	10%	9%	3%
Prob beating risk-free	67%	68%	71%	68%	47%	67%	69%
10 year regular contributions							
	100% lifestyling	75% lifestyling	50% lifestyling	50/50 fixed	CPPI	12% VT	Lifestyle VT
Average expected return	4.06%	3.74%	3.42%	4.37%	5.06%	4.50%	3.45%
Prob of capital loss	9%	6%	2%	15%	5%	16%	1%
Prob beating risk-free	65%	65%	66%	63%	38%	60%	63%

6.15 It can be seen that, for a member paying regular contributions for 40 years, each of the non-guaranteed strategies investigated produces strong expected returns over risk-free (2.8% per annum after charges) and most of the strategies have only a small risk of returning less than the contributions paid.

- 6.16 Over the 20 year investment period, it can be seen that most of the strategies now have a material probability of not returning more than contributions.
- 6.17 Over 10 years, there is a split of strategies between those which maintain a significant amount of risk and those which are generally de-risking strategies. The former have higher expected returns but material probabilities of loss whereas the latter have lower expected returns and correspondingly lower probabilities of loss.

Single Contribution Results

- 6.18 Whilst it could be expected that members will make pension contributions throughout their working lives, a provider will need to ensure that any strategy also works for flexible contributions as a member is not contractually obliged to stay with that provider and /or could change employer or employment status, for example.
- 6.19 In addition, a provider will want to be able to offer to receive significant pots built up with other providers and one-off payments.
- 6.20 At the other extreme of this flexibility from regular contributions are single contributions. We therefore have tested the same strategies over the same periods for single contributions.
- 6.21 The single contribution results are as follows:

40 year single contribution							
	100% lifestyling	75% lifestyling	50% lifestyling	50/50 fixed	CPPI	12% VT	Lifestyle VT
Average expected return	5.41%	4.71%	4.04%	4.27%	5.82%	4.50%	4.00%
Prob of capital loss	12%	5%	1%	1%	29%	1%	1%
Prob beating risk-free	60%	65%	70%	71%	54%	71%	70%
20 year single contribution							
	100% lifestyling	75% lifestyling	50% lifestyling	50/50 fixed	CPPI	12% VT	Lifestyle VT
Average expected return	4.84%	4.32%	3.79%	4.15%	5.22%	4.39%	4.06%
Prob of capital loss	18%	10%	3%	5%	40%	7%	4%
Prob beating risk-free	58%	61%	65%	64%	44%	65%	65%
10 year single contribution							
	100% lifestyling	75% lifestyling	50% lifestyling	50/50 fixed	CPPI	12% VT	Lifestyle VT
Average expected return	4.25%	3.88%	3.50%	4.19%	4.85%	4.41%	3.61%
Prob of capital loss	20%	15%	6%	14%	41%	14%	7%
Prob beating risk-free	58%	60%	62%	60%	36%	61%	61%

- 6.22 The single contribution results provide similar results to the regular contribution results, although some of the probabilities of capital loss are slightly higher.
- 6.23 We conclude that comparisons between strategies will not be invalidated by differences caused by contribution flexibility.

Guaranteed Products

- 6.24 We have seen that, for a number of the strategies and terms we have investigated, the expected return is greater than risk-free + 1% per annum but the probability of capital loss is non-zero.
- 6.25 For those strategies, it would be possible to increase the AMC to include a guarantee charge and still meet our performance targets.
- 6.26 In the analysis below, we have shown the maximum charge that could be used to cover an explicit guarantee charge and possibly higher management charges yet still meet the performance targets. We have then re-run the strategies using these increased charges and assuming a money-back guarantee to see the impact on the metrics.
- 6.27 Clearly, if lower charges are used, the metrics would be improved.
- 6.28 The results are as follows:

40 year regular contributions	with guarantee						
	100% lifestyling	75% lifestyling	50% lifestyling	50/50 fixed	CPPI	12% VT	Lifestyle VT
AMC / Guarantee charge	1.8%	1.1%	0.4%	0.8%	2.1%	1.0%	0.6%
Average expected return	3.74%	3.75%	3.81%	3.77%	3.85%	3.80%	3.79%
Prob of capital loss	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Prob beating risk-free	44%	55%	69%	62%	35%	59%	63%
20 year regular contributions with guarantee							
	100% lifestyling	75% lifestyling	50% lifestyling	50/50 fixed	CPPI	12% VT	Lifestyle VT
AMC / Guarantee charge	1.2%	0.6%	n/a	0.8%	1.7%	1.1%	0.4%
Average expected return	3.81%	3.86%	n/a	3.78%	3.79%	3.82%	3.86%
Prob of capital loss	0%	0%	n/a	0%	0%	0%	0%
Prob beating risk-free	52%	61%	n/a	58%	33%	55%	65%
10 year regular contributions with guarantee							
	100% lifestyling	75% lifestyling	50% lifestyling	50/50 fixed	CPPI	12% VT	Lifestyle VT
AMC / Guarantee charge	0.6%	n/a	n/a	1.0%	1.1%	1.1%	n/a
Average expected return	3.81%	n/a	n/a	3.82%	3.85%	3.87%	n/a
Prob of capital loss	0%	n/a	n/a	0%	0%	0%	n/a
Prob beating risk-free	59%	n/a	n/a	56%	28%	50%	n/a

6.29 By definition, the existence of the money-back guarantee removes the probability of capital loss. As would be expected, the increased charge level reduces the probability of beating risk-free returns but, by design, the expected return is approximately equal to the risk-free rate (net of fees) + 1% pa.

Conclusions

6.30 We have investigated a number of different investment strategies. Under our model, for all combinations of strategies and contribution terms, there is a risk that the member gets back less than their contributions. However, this risk is small for some of the less risky strategies, especially over 40 years. For an individual entering in their twenties, a "money back" guarantee at retirement may not have much value.

- 6.31 For shorter investment periods, it is necessary to incorporate a guarantee to materially remove the material risk of getting back less than the amounts contributed.
- 6.32 Naturally, the cost of such a guarantee would reduce the expected return and also the probability of beating risk-free returns. We look in the next chapter at the practical challenges of providing such a guarantee. We do not conclude whether a guarantee is needed as this will be a function of the value placed by a member on the guarantee relative to the impact on their returns and the cost required by the provider to provide such a guarantee.
- 6.33 However, it does appear that there is some scope to enable a guarantee charge to be levied in conjunction with some strategies and yet still achieve an expected return materially in excess of risk-free returns.

7. Practical issues

Introduction

- 7.1 We have concluded in section 6 that, theoretically, by looking at available excess return, there is some scope for providers to offer a money-back guarantee.
- 7.2 In this section, we look at some of the practical issues surrounding the offering of such a guarantee.

Possible providers

- 7.3 There are a number of different types of providers who could provide such a guarantee. We discuss the main possible parties below.
- 7.4 Employers could offer the guarantee in a similar way that they provide defined benefit schemes to members. This is the position in Germany for Pillar 2. However, this would require DB-like governance which we believe is too onerous for the majority of small to medium employers.
- 7.5 Insurance companies are natural providers of savings guarantees and could offer the guarantee to the member through an insurance contract. It is likely that these arrangements would be determined on a group basis by the employer. This is the situation in Denmark for Pillar 2 and also in a number of countries for Pillar 3.
- 7.6 Banks also offer savings products with guarantees but these are often shorter in term than those offered by insurance companies. It may be more natural for banks to participate behind other providers in helping them manage the risk taken on.
- 7.7 Asset managers are not able to directly offer the guarantee but could package up the investment management and risk reduction products (see below) to provide a product that has an embedded guarantee provided by a third party.
- 7.8 Ultimately, any pension provision shortfall will fall onto the government so the government could see offering a money-back guarantee as taking from one hand to pay the other and hence cost-neutral. However, public pension liabilities in the UK are already very high and adding to these is unlikely to be palatable.
- 7.9 In the UK, the Pension Protection Fund exists to guarantee benefit promises to members of DB schemes. It is funded by levies from existing schemes. It is possible that an equivalent structure could be set up to meet DC guarantees.

Capital

7.10 Any provider who offers an investment guarantee is taking on investment risk. Such risk needs to be mitigated, passed on or capital held against the

- investment risk to minimise the risk that the guarantee is not provided to the individual.
- 7.11 Pension schemes are required to target holding assets equal to the value of their liabilities whereas insurers are required to hold assets equal to the value of their liabilities plus hold additional capital to provide a buffer against any risks that the liabilities will not be able to be met.
- 7.12 For an insurance company, the amount of capital required to cover a guarantee will depend on the expected cost of providing the guarantee and the expected charges that will be received to meet that guarantee.
- 7.13 Assuming that the guarantee charge is priced correctly, it would be expected that the level of capital needed at the point of writing the guarantee would not be significant as the expected guarantee cost should be covered by the guarantee charges, even after allowing for a prudent level of transfers and market falls. However, this capital could increase significantly over time if markets fall or the expected cost of providing guarantees rises and risks have not been mitigated.
- 7.14 The level of capital that might have to be held will have an impact on the level of the guarantee charge that an insurer will apply as holding regulatory capital has a cost to the insurer.

Risk reduction methodologies

- 7.15 To reduce the level of investment risk and amount of capital to be held, pension schemes and insurers often look to use derivative instruments to transfer risk to investment banks.
- 7.16 There are two standard approaches for doing this "delta-hedging" or purchasing put options.
- 7.17 Delta-hedging involves purchasing short-term derivative contracts so that the provider is neutral to short-term changes in investment market levels. This strategy requires regular re-balancing of the derivative contracts held and is probably only appropriate for larger insurance companies.
- 7.18 The major risk to the provider of delta-hedging is that the re-balancing costs money and the price of the derivative instruments fluctuate. This is most noticeable in volatile markets. Therefore, the cost of the hedging is unknown in advance and this can lead to losses if a fixed guarantee cost has been offered.
- 7.19 To pass on this uncertainty, a provider can purchase put options from an investment bank. However, it should be noted that the option market is limited in size beyond 20 years and so it is unlikely that a provider will be able to buy put options that exactly match any guarantees written with terms longer than 20 years. Rolling put strategies could be used but these will also involve some uncertainty of cost.

- 7.20 If a provider wishes to fully pass on the guarantee risk to an investment bank, it may be necessary for the guarantee to be limited to the consolidation phase. However, this could be appropriate as it will offer protection to pots once they have reached a significant size and provide some retirement pot certainty, regardless of future contributions and market movements.
- 7.21 Similarly, protection could be offered only for the foundation phase to ensure that savers do not see capital losses on their initial contributions to encourage further saving.
- 7.22 Another significant risk is basis risk. Most of the derivative contracts that can be purchased in significant size are based on the most liquid indices. If the investment funds offered are not based on the same indices, then there is a risk that the funds fall but the derivative contracts do not provide the required level of protection. This was a major cause of loss for insurers selling variable annuities. We therefore expect any guaranteed DC product to be based on index funds and for the asset allocation to be controlled by the fund manager following set allocation rules.
- 7.23 A connected major issue to be addressed is whether a fixed guarantee cost can be offered for all future contributions. The expected cost of providing a guarantee will vary over time due to views on future volatility, interest rates and the term of the guarantee. This will be most noticeable for a provider buying put options who will find that they will vary in price over time.
- 7.24 As future contributions are uncertain (due to wage inflation, employment levels, additional contributions etc), offering a fixed guarantee cost through time may not be practical as it may leave the provider open to too much risk. However, a variable guarantee charge may not be acceptable to members, especially if it is difficult to change providers (see below).
- 7.25 Clearly, any risk mitigation with a third party introduces a counterparty risk. However, in most cases, any such agreements will be fully collateralised.

Portability / consolidation

- 7.26 The labour market is considerably more fluid these days than when pension schemes were first established. It is not unusual for individuals to have more than 10 employers during a career.
- 7.27 This creates challenges for the pensions industry. An employer would rather not be running small pots for every employee it has ever had, regardless of when they left. An employee is unlikely to want to have a large number of small pots to keep track of. Therefore, an ability to consolidate small pension pots seems a necessary requirement and the DWP consulted on this topic in December 2011 (DWP, 2011b).
- 7.28 The potential existence of funds with money-back guarantees complicates this further. If markets have fallen, the existence of a guarantee could be very valuable to the member. If the member wishes to transfer that guarantee to a new provider (say because their new employer does not have an arrangement

- with the same insurance company), then the new provider would require some form of transfer value compensation to take on the guarantee.
- 7.29 Equally, a provider that has bought a put option to hedge a guarantee needs the future guarantee charges to pay for that option. If an individual leaves, and markets are up when the provider looks to unwind the option, the provider will be out of pocket. It will need to be compensated via either a transfer value from the new provider or a surrender value applied to the member's account.
- 7.30 Portability and consolidation issues can be reduced if the number of providers is limited. We have seen the emergence of industry and sector super-schemes in many countries.
- 7.31 These issues have been addressed differently in the countries where guarantees exist. In Germany, the guarantee is cancelled if the employee transfers provider. In Switzerland, the guarantee applies on transfer as well as retirement although this has led to risk-free investment. In Denmark, the compulsory Pillar 1 guarantees are provided only by ATP.
- 7.32 Ultimately, the portability and consolidation issues can be removed if the government is the only provider and such money-back guarantees were compulsory.
- 7.33 The government may have to legislate or provide guidance to enable a common solution to be found across the industry and allow true portability.

Retirement age uncertainty

- 7.34 Individuals are currently requiring greater flexibility in retirement dates. This could potentially cause issues for providers who are offering a fixed point money-back guarantee if the individual changes their retirement date.
- 7.35 We feel that this can be solved mainly through effective communication and advice. A member retiring earlier than expected needs to understand that they would be giving up the guarantee if they took the pot early and the implications of such an action. A member choosing to work later could take the guaranteed pot and invest it appropriately to reflect their requirements at that point of time.

Administration

- 7.36 As discussed earlier, there is an increased administration burden if consolidation is not a key feature of the market.
- 7.37 For providers providing guarantees, the variability of the guarantee charge will have an impact on the amount of administration. If the guarantee charge can vary, the provider will need to break down the individual member accounts into sub-accounts for each different guarantee charge and then reaggregate those sub-accounts for communication purposes. This could create significant challenges, both for administration and communication.

Education

- 7.38 A number of the products described in this paper are complex. This not only brings communication challenges in relation to customers (in this context, scheme members, see next section below) but also to advisors (including employers and providers). Advisors across the spectrum will need to be comfortable and familiar with the products before they consider recommending them to their clients. This process will not happen overnight.
- 7.39 In order for the market for guarantee products to gain the bulk buying power needed to provide them at acceptable cost, advisor buy-in will be crucial.

Communication

- 7.40 The Consumer Information Working Party (Ritchie, 2012) has recently carried out some very good work on how to engage better with customers. Some of their relevant key proposals were that
 - Advice needs to be provided supplemented by engaging information;
 - Need to communicate risk and reward by reference to chance of achieving consumer's goals; and
 - On-going discussions throughout the duration of investments.
- 7.41 We fully agree with these findings and believe that the existence of a money-back guarantee could assist in improving communication. A floor is an easily understood concept and could remove some of the potential disappointment in downside scenarios for other strategies.
- 7.42 It is clear that some of the underlying strategies are complicated but we believe the use of volatility controlled strategies by NEST will aid in these becoming more mainstream.
- 7.43 The existence of a money-back guarantee should also make communication easier during periods of short-term volatility because the provider can point to the existence of the guarantee to reduce concerns.

8. Conclusions

- 8.1 We note that there is widespread use of guaranteed products in DC offerings around the world but not in the UK. We welcome the increased publicity given to the debate by the Pensions Minister.
- 8.2 We believe that a well priced money-back guaranteed DC offering meets a large number of the needs and wants of individuals and other parties and therefore there should be a place for such a product.
- 8.3 However, we believe that it is critical that a guaranteed product should still aim for returns better than risk-free and not just target the guaranteed return.
- 8.4 A number of investment techniques have been developed in recent years to allow investment performance in a risk-controlled manner. Our analysis suggests that by using some of these techniques, providers can minimise the downside risk of offering guarantees. Hopefully, this will enable providers to be able to offer guarantees at a level of charge that still allows expected returns to be above risk-free returns and with the additional benefit of the guarantee.
- 8.5 There are a number of practical issues for providers of a money-back guarantee. We believe that a number of these can be solved by improved communication between providers and individuals, and in particular, by a stronger focus on outcomes based analysis.
- 8.6 However, the biggest issue is likely to be in connection with changes of provider and transferability of guarantees. It may be that regulation is required to address this.
- 8.7 The low level of downside risk being transferred and the lack of a liquid long-term option market may preclude a lifetime "money-back" guarantee for new, younger entrants to the labour market. However, protection could be offered during either a "foundation" or "consolidation" phase that may still meet the majority of the needs and wants of a full "money-back" guarantee.

9. Acknowledgements

- 9.1 The opinions expressed in this paper are the authors' personal views, rather than those of our employers.
- 9.2 We would like to acknowledge the many helpful comments received from both colleagues and peers. However any errors or omissions remain the authors own.
- 9.3 We would particularly like to thank Andrew Slater, Jenny Holt, Keith Feldman, Andrew Lill, Kevin Telfer and Hugh Cutler for their input into the Working Party.

10. References

Aon Hewitt, 2011. Towards a Pan-European Pension Fund for Researcher; Overview of Labor Law, SocialSecurity and Tax Considerations Vol 2. [pdf]. Aon Hewitt. Available at

http://ec.europa.eu/research/era/pdf/overview_of_labor_law,_social_security_and_t ax_considerations_vol._2.pdf [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Association of Consulting Actuaries, 2009. 2009 Pension Trends Survey Report 1 – Twilight or a new dawn for Defined Benefit Schemes. [pdf] Association of Consulting Actuaries. Available at

http://www.aca.org.uk/files/ACA_2009_Pension_trends_report_No.1-1_September_2009-20090828155548.pdf [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Browning, E.S., 2011. Retiring Boomers Find 401(k) Plans Fall Short. *Wall Street Journal* [online] 19 February 2011. Available at http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052748703959604576152792748707356. http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052748703959604576152792748707356. http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052748703959604576152792748707356. http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052748703959604576152792748707356.

Department of Work and Pensions, 2011a. *Guidance for offering a default option for defined contribution automatic enrolment pension schemes*. [pdf] London: Department of Work and Pensions. Available at http://www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/defopt-guid.pdf [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Department of Work and Pensions, 2011b. *Meeting future workplace pension challenges: improving transfers and dealing with small pension pots.* [pdf] London: Department of Work and Pensions, Available at http://www.dwp.gov.uk/docs/small-pension-pots-consultation.pdf [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Financial Services Authority, 2010. *With-Profits regime review report*. [pdf] FSA, Available at http://www.fsa.gov.uk/pubs/other/withprofits_report.pdf [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Financial Services Authority, 2011. *DP11/1 Product Intervention*. [pdf] FSA, Available at http://www.fsa.gov.uk/pubs/discussion/dp11_01.pdf [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Investment Company Institute (ICI), 2012, 2012 Investment Company Fact Book – Chapter 7: Retirement and Education Savings. [online] Available at http://www.icifactbook.org/fb_ch7.html [Accessed 04 October 2004]

Mercer, 2012. *Mercer Defined Contribution Pension and Workplace Savings Survey April 2012*. [online] Available at http://uk.mercer.com/articles/mercer-defined-contribution-and-workplace-saving-survey [Accessed 04 October 2012]

NEST, 2012. *Research*. [online] Available at http://www.nestpensions.org.uk/schemeweb/NestWeb/public/NESTforAdvisers/contents/research.html [Accessed 04 October 2012]

OECD, 2011. Pensions at a Glance2011: Retirement-income Systems in OECD and G20 Countries. OECD Publishing. Available at http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/pension_glance-2011-en [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Parliamentary Ombudsman, The, 2003. *The Prudential Regulation of Equitable Life*. [pdf] London: The Stationery Office. Available at http://www.ombudsman.org.uk/_data/assets/pdf_file/0012/4017/equitable03_part2.pdf [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Pollock, M.A, 2012. Calls for More Disclosure on Target-Date Funds. *The Wall Street Journal*. [online] 9 July 2012. Available at http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052702304199804577476961371319448. http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052702304199804577476961371319448. http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052702304199804577476961371319448. http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052702304199804577476961371319448. http://online.wsj.com/article/SB10001424052702304199804577476961371319448.

Ritchie, A et al, 2011, *Transforming consumer information*. [pdf] Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. Available at http://www.actuaries.org.uk/research-and-resources/documents/transforming-consumer-information. [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Towers Watson, 2012a. 2012 Global Pension Assets Study. [online] Available at http://www.towerswatson.com/assets/pdf/6267/Global-Pensions-Asset-Study-2012.pdf. [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Towers Watson, 2012b. *Variable annuity sales reach £1 billion in 2011*. [online] Available at http://www.towerswatson.com/united-kingdom/press/6882 [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Van der Lecq, S. and Van der Wurff, A., 2011. *The Price of Pension Risks*. [pdf] The Journal of Risk. Available at http://www.risk.net/digital assets/4755/v13n3a4.pdf [Accessed 04 October 2011]

www.pensionsadvisoryservice.org.uk [Accessed 04 October 2012]

www.pensionfundsonline.co.uk [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Information on NEST from www.nestpensions.org.uk [Accessed 04 October 2012]

Information on pension schemes around the world from Antolin, P. et al. (2011). The Role of Guarantees in Defined Contribution Pensions, OECD Working Papers on Finance, Insurance and Private Pensions, No. 11. [pdf] OECD Publishing. Available at http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/finance-and-investment/the-role-of-guarantees-in-defined-contribution-pensions_5kg52k5b0v9s-en [Accessed 04 October 2012] and

401(k) information from www.ebri.org

DISCLAIMER The views expressed in this publication are those of invited contributors and not necessarily those of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. The Institute and Faculty of Actuaries do not endorse any of the views stated, nor any claims or representations made in this publication and accept no responsibility or liability to any person for loss or damage suffered as a consequence of their placing reliance upon any view, claim or representation made in this publication. The information and expressions of opinion contained in this publication are not intended to be a comprehensive study, nor to provide actuarial advice or advice of any nature and should not be treated as a substitute for specific advice concerning individual situations. On no account may any part of this publication be reproduced without the written permission of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Institute and Faculty of Actuaries

Maclaurin House

18 Dublin Street Edinburgh • EH1 3PP T +44 (0)131 240 1300 F +44 (0)131 240 1313 Staple Inn Hall

High Holborn London • WC1V 7QJ T +44 (0)20 7632 2100 F +44 (0)20 7632 2111 **Napier House**

4 Worcester Street Oxford • OX1 2AW T +44 (0)1865 268 200 F +44 (0)1865 268 211